
Chowan County Board of Equalization and Review 
 Meeting 

Monday April 7, 2025 
Chowan County Public Safety Center 

305 West Freemason Street 
6:00pm 

 
Minutes 

 
The Chowan County Board of Commissioners convened as the Board of E&R on April 7, 2025 
at 6:00PM in the Public Safety Building at 305 W Freemason St. Edenton NC. 
  
Those in attendance were Chairman Bob Kirby, Vice Chairman Larry McLaughlin, 
Commissioners Ellis Lawrence, Ron Cummings, Tony Shaffer, Chris Evans and Tray Taylor.  
 
Representing the Tax Department was Tax Administrator and Clerk to the Board of E&R Chris 
Hill.  
 
Clerk to the Board of Commissioners Susanne Stallings administered the Oath of Office to the 
Board members and Mr. Kirby called the meeting to order.  
 
Mr. Hill explained the appeals process and had previously provided guidance from the NCDOR 
on the appeals process by email. Mr. Hill stated that there were no appeals at this time and that 
there were appeal forms available in the lobby and online if any one wished to make an appeal. 
The deadline to make an appeal is May 5, 2025 at 5:00PM.  
 
With there being no other business to discuss the meeting was recessed until May 5, 2025 at 6:00 
PM.  
 
This, the 7th day of April 2025. 
 
Chris Hill 
Clerk to the Board of Equalization and Review Chowan County Tax Administrator 

 
 

Chowan County Board of Commissioners 
Regular Meeting 

Monday, April 7, 2025 
Chowan County Public Safety Center 

305 West Freemason Street 
6:00pm 

 
 
This meeting was recorded. A copy of the recording is in the meeting file labeled April 7, 2025. 
 
Present: Chairman Bob Kirby, Commissioners Larry McLaughlin, Ellis Lawrence, Chris Evans, 
Tray Taylor, Ron Cummings, and Tony Shaffer. 



 
Staff present County Manager Kevin Howard, County Finance Officer Cathy Smith, Attorney 
Johnny Hallow and Board Clerk Susanne Stallings  

 
Regular Meeting 
Chair Kirby called the regular meeting to order and then led the pledge of allegiance.  Following 
the pledge Chair Kirby then offered the invocation. 
 
Approval of Agenda  
Commissioner Cummings moved to approve the agenda as presented.  
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
Public Comment 
Chair Kirby opened the floor for public comment. 
 
Shannon Berkley signed up for public comment and stated she did not wish to speak. 
 
Rodney Washington, Country Club Drive stated this was his third month in front of the 
Commissioners looking for a response to his concerns. He stated that to date he has not received 
a letter from the County Attorney nor was he aware of any action taken by the County. (his 
comments were responded to by the Manager during the Manager’s Report portion of the 
agenda). 
 
Chair Kirby called for any further public comment, there was none. 
 
Consent Agenda  
Minutes - February 24, 2025 Joint meeting with Edenton Town Council, March 3rd Regular 
Meeting, March 12, 2025 Board Retreat, and March 17, 2025 Regular Meeting. 
 
Ms. Stallings noted a correction to the February 24th minutes. She stated that the Town rules of 
procedure do not allow the Mayor to vote unless there is a tie. She stated that she will 
recommends removal of the (7-0) vote count for all of the Council votes and leave that they were 
unanimous. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the consent agenda with the recommended 
amendment. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Annual Health Insurance Renewal 
Jim Dubovec with Pierce Group Benefits presented the Board with information on the annual 
plan renewal rates. He noted that the only change from the current plan is an increase to the 
individual out of pocket max (reduction of $250) and family out of pocket max (reduction of 
$500). He noted that the paid claims increased 10/3% which is 22% higher than the benchmark. 
He noted the loss ratio is 105.1%. He noted that there are 6 high cost claimants on the plan 
generating $1,000,321 in total costs.  Because of this the employer premium and the employee 
contribution for premium will increase 7% for medical and 3% to 5% for dental. 



 
Board members discussed the impact of the increase on employees and the county budget. 
 
Mr. Dubovec also noted the Board has been provided with a service contract renewal for Pierce 
Group Benefits. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin asked what was the dollar amount of the total increase. 
 
Mr. Howard stated it is $109,000 which is the county’s cost. 
 
The Board discussed option 1 or option 2 for the dental plan. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that if the County chooses option 1 for dental it is a 3% increase for one year. 
If the County chooses option 2 for dental, the increase is 5% but the rate will remain the same for 
two years. He stated that since dental is a small part of the expense he would recommend option 
2.  
 
Commissioner Evans moved to approve the plan renewal as presented and to select option 2 for 
the dental renewal. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Commissioner Evans moved to approve the service agreement as presented. Chair Kirby asked 
for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
DSS Items 
Retention Incentive  
DSS Director Tyeshia Phelps requested approval of the 2025 retention incentive for DSS Staff 
utilizing lapse salaries. The incentive will be paid to 22 staff and the total amount is $37,000. 
 
It was noted that the monies to fund this request will not have to be moved because the monies 
are currently lapse salaries. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer moved to approve the request as presented. Chair Kirby asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
Annual Report – DSS 
DSS Director Tyeshia Phelps provided the annual report from Social Services. A copy of the 
report is in the meeting file labeled April 7, 2025. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated that the DSS Director does a great job he stated she should be 
recognized on her outstanding work. 
 
Chair Kirby thanked Ms. Phelps for her professionalism and representation of Chowan County. 

 
Afterschool Plus Program Request 
Mr. Howard presented the Board with a request to utilize discretionary funds in the amount of 
$300 to cover the local match for the purchase of a computer through JCPC for the Afterschool 
Plus Program. 



 
Commissioner Taylor moved to approve the request as presented. Chair Kirby asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
Sheriff 
Sheriff Edward Basnight requested that the Sheriff Office purchase three (3) Enterprise Vehicles 
which are nearing the end of the lease program. The total buyout total for these three vehicles is 
$19,104.72. He stated that if the Board approves this request the Sheriff will also recommend 
that three vehicles currently owned by the County with higher mileage be sold on Gov Deals. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence moved to approve the request as presented. 
 
Commissioner Cummings asked if the County had the funds for the purchase. 
 
Ms. Smith stated that there are some excess ARPA funds/LATCF monies and she stated she 
would like to utilize these funds first. 
 
Mr. Howard noted that additional monies will be needed to outfit the new vehicles that come in 
the new lease agreement. He stated that the monies for the equipment will also be included in the 
purchase amount. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Recognition of Guests 
Chair Kirby recognized Board of Education Chairman George Lewis and Superintended Tammi 
Ward who attended the meeting. 
 
Interlocal Agreement 
Mr. Howard presented the Board with an interlocal agreement between Gates, Chowan and 
Washington Counties to perform a feasibility study for a regional jail facility. 
He noted that additionally, the three Counties will form a committee to review the study. It is 
recommended that Commissioner Shaffer be appointed to the committee along with the County 
Manager and Sheriff. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the interlocal agreement as presented. Chair Kirby 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 

INTER-LOCAL AGREEMENT 
 

Chowan County, Gates County and Washington County 
 Feasibility Study Agreement for Regional Jail Facility  
 

 
WHEREAS, Chowan, Gates and Washington Counties wish enter into a study to determine 

the feasibility of creating a regional jail facility to serve the three counties; and 



 
WHEREAS, a feasibility study is a Needs Assessment Study and will assist the three 

Counties in determining the possibility for the creation of a regional jail; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, as an exercise in regional collaboration and efficient use of local 

resources, the Boards of Commissioners of Chowan County, Gates County and Washington 
County do hereby agree to a joint study to evaluate the opportunity to build a regional facility. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board of Commissioners of Chowan County, Gates County 

and Washington County do hereby agree to undertake and fund share of the costs of a study that 
is formulated based on County population 

 
FURTHERMORE, the study will include the following services: 

 
• Forecast inmate population and associated space needs through 2045. 
• Identify long term space needs and solutions. 
• Provide conceptual design for option. 
• Provide opinion of probable cost. 
• Work with an Advisory Stakeholders Group. 
• Present the findings to the Board of Commissioners. 
• Provide a written report documenting the study findings, options to address 

needs, and recommendations for next steps. 
 
 

Each party to this Agreement shall sign a signature page to constitute valid execution of this 
Agreement.   

 
Financial Items 
Finance Officer Cathy Smith will present the following: 

 
Request for Permission to Advertise position in Finance Department 
Ms. Smith presented a request for approval to begin advertising for and hiring a full-time 
position in the Finance Department for a staff accountant. She stated that the responsibilities of 
the Finance Office have grown over the last several years, and it's necessary to add a position in 
order to meet the growing demands on the office.  Duties of a new position include, but are not 
limited to, Accounts Payable, Payroll, bank reconciliations, Contracts, and Grants. Proposed 
salary is $45k-$50k. She stated that a budget amendment will be presented to commissioners 
once a hire date and salary is determined adding that the position will be included in next year's 
budget request. 
 
Commissioner Cummings moved to approve the request as presented. Chair Kirby asked for all 
in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
 



 
 
Financial Items 
Finance Officer Cathy Smith presented the following: 
 
Current Fiscal Year Budget Amendments 
2025-054 

 
 
2025-055 

 
 
 
 
 

Health Insurance (11,000.00)           
Maint & Repairs - Vehicles 11,000.00             

Balanced -                           -                         

Justification:

Water Fund

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

61-7120-183-00
61-7120-353-00

To amend the 2025 budget for the Water Department to include 
replacement of motor in Ford truck.

PT Salaries 3,375.00               
Fica Expense 260.00                   
Designated Future Appropriations (3,635.00)             

Balanced -                           -                         

Justification:

To amend the 2025 budget for TDA to include temporary part-time 
position to cover TDA Director's leave of absence.  Calculations include PT 

salaries/benefits for fifteen weeks.

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

TDA
51-8150-126-00
51-8150-181-00
51-8150-993-00



2025-056 

 
 
2025-057 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Salaries - Regular (30,000.00)           
Prof Services - Temp Agency 30,000.00             

Balanced -                           -                         

Justification:

12-5310-121-00

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

DSS

12-5310-198-00

To amend the budget for Social Services to include additional service 
from Vanguard Professional Services (Temp Agency).  This is a transfer 

between line items and no additional funding is being requested.



 

*Preservation/Automation 936.93                     
*Dept Supplies - Auto/Pres 312.31                   
*Contr Svcs - Automation/Pres 312.31                   
*C/O - Auto / Pres 312.31                   

*Sheriff Donations 20.00                       
*Donation - Expense 20.00                     

*Donations - Chowan 391.00                     
*Donations - Gates 134.13                     
*Donations - Perquimans 639.57                     
*Donations - Other 2,711.19                 
*Donation - Expense 3,875.89               
*Adoption - Chowan 900.00                     
*Adoption - Gates 350.00                     
*Adoption - Perquimans 662.00                     
*Adoption - Other 1,679.00                 
*Contr Svcs - Spay/Neuter 3,591.00               

*AG Program Fees Discretionary 520.00                     
*Ag Program Fees Discretionary 520.00                   
*4-H Fees Discretionary 1,422.33                 
*4-H Fees Discretionary 1,422.33               
*Livestock Program 1,000.00                 
*Livestock Program 1,000.00               

*Recreation Donations 800.00                     
*Donations - Dept Supplies 800.00                   
*Recreation Special Events 2,082.00                 
*Recreation Special Events 2,082.00               
*NCCF - Laughton Endowment 50.00                       
*NCCF - Laughton Endowment 50.00                     

*Reg Fees - Trips 6,849.00                 
*TRIPS - Senior Citizens 6,849.00               
*Silver Sneakers 840.00                     
*Renew Active 531.00                     
*Healthways 1,371.00               

*DSS Special Events 677.00                     
*DSS Special Events 677.00                   

Balanced 23,195.15               23,195.15             

Total Discretionary Income Received FYE 2025 256,771.22            

Justification:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Sheriff's Office
11-3431-232-00
11-4317-440-00

Register of Deeds
11-3418-415-00
11-4180-298-00
11-4180-440-00
11-4180-511-00

11-4381-600-00
11-3438-895-00
11-3438-895-01
11-3438-895-02
11-3438-895-03
11-4381-441-00

Animal Shelter
11-3438-894-00
11-3438-894-01
11-3438-894-02
11-3438-894-03

Cooperative Ext:
11-3495-370-00
11-4953-440-00
11-3495-378-00
11-4953-448-00
11-3495-379-00
11-4953-449-00

Recreation
11-3612-487-00
11-6130-299-01

11-3616-533-00
11-4268-312-00

11-3612-504-00
11-6132-453-00
11-3612-507-00
11-6132-460-00

Senior Center

11-4268-352-02

11-3616-535-04
11-3616-535-06

To amend the 2025 budget to include Discretionary income for March 2025.

DSS
12-3531-230-14
12-5310-450-00



Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the budget amendments as presented. Chair Kirby 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
 
Financial Report February 2025 
Finance Officer Cathy Smith provided the Board with financial reports for February 2025. A 
copy of the report is in the meeting file labeled April 7, 2025. 
 
External Board/Committee Report 
Commissioner McLaughlin reported on the Senior Center Advisory Board. He noted that the 
seniors have requested a change in the departmental structure to have the Senior Center be a free-
standing department. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence reported on the Airport Commission. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer reported on his discussions regarding a regional jail. He asked if there 
was an update on the Sheriff boat lift. Mr. Howard stated he hoped to have a quote in the next 
week. 
 
Commissioner Taylor reported on his attendance as the conference for reducing opioid overdose. 
He stated that those in attendance received good information on programs to address the opioid 
epidemic. 
 
Manager’s Report 
County Manager Kevin Howard updated the Board on the following: 

- He stated that the County Attorney mailed a letter to Mr. Washington over a month ago. 
He stated he was not sure why the letter had not been received however he would follow 
up on this. He also noted he is working with the Health Department on one of Mr. 
Washington’s concerns. 

- Mr. Howard stated he planned to bring a plan to the Commissioners to restructure the 
Recreation Department at a future meeting. 

 
 
Timely and Important Matters 

 
Budget Worksession Meetings 
Ms. Stallings noted she will need Board members to send her any conflicts for May dates as she 
is trying to select at least 2 ½ meeting dates for budget worksessions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Adjourn 
Being no further business, Commissioner Shaffer moved that the meeting be adjourned. Chair 
Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
 

 

 
_______________________________________  ______________________________ 
Bob Kirby, Chairman      Susanne Stallings, Clerk 

 

 


	INTER-LOCAL AGREEMENT

